In the Supreme Court of Florida

CONSOLIDATED

CASE NO. SC01-1505 CASE NO. SC01-1955 CASE NO. SC01-1956

IVAN MARTINEZ, et al.,

Petitioners,

v

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT CO.,

Respondent.

CLAY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.,

Petitioner,

٧.

DELORES JOHNSON, et al.,

Respondents.

CLAY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

LANCE, INC., et al.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST AND THIRD DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL

MARTINEZ PETITIONERS BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

STEWART G. GREENBERG, P.A.

Penthouse 400 11440 North Kendall Drive Miami, Florida 33176 -and-

RUSSO APPELLATE FIRM 6101 Southwest 76th Street Miami, Florida 33143

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case was decided by the trial court on a motion for judgment on the pleadings filed by Respondent Florida Power & Light Company ("FPL"). (R 42-55, 119). Accordingly, the only facts available at this juncture are those alleged in Petitioners' Amended Complaint, which are taken as true for purposes of ruling on the legal question presented. *See, e.g., Reinhard v. Bliss*, 85 So. 2d 131 (Fla. 1956); *Domres v. Perrigan*, 760 So. 2d 1028, 1029 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); *Jaramillo v. Dubow*, 588 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

1. The accident and FPL's failure to repair malfunctioning streetlights it had undertaken to maintain

On the evening of November 4, 1996, the minor child of Petitioners Ivan and Yamile Martinez was struck and killed by a car while crossing Southwest 132nd Avenue in Miami, Florida. (R 23). The accident took place at or about 7:18 p.m. after the sun had set and it was already dark. (R 25). Respondent Florida Power & Light had erected the street lights on Southwest 132nd Avenue some time previously for the specific purpose of providing improved visibility on the road at night for

¹ References to the record on appeal in this brief appear as (R ____), as the record consists of only one volume. All emphasis in the brief is supplied by undersigned counsel unless otherwise indicated.

pedestrians and motorists. (R 24). Respondent Florida Power & Light had also undertaken to maintain the streetlights at that locale, and yet one or more of the streetlights by the place where Petitioners' minor child was killed were burnt out or otherwise inoperative and had been in that condition for a considerable period of time before the accident. (R 24).

At all times material to the safety of Petitioners' minor child, FPL had actual or constructive knowledge that the streetlights in question were not functioning. (R 25). And, "it was reasonably foreseeable to [FPL] that traffic accidents [like that in which Petitioners' son was killed] could and would occur as a result of the darkened situation that was created." (R 25). Despite FPL's actual or constructive knowledge of the malfunctioning streetlights that it was in charge of maintaining, FPL failed to correct the problem. (R 25). FPL failed to use reasonable maintenance measures to restore the lights to a functioning condition so they could serve their intended purpose of providing sufficient light at night for pedestrians and motorists using Southwest 132nd Avenue. (R 25-26).

2. Petitioners' wrongful death suit

After their child was killed in the accident, Petitioners brought a wrongful death suit against, *inter alia*, Respondent FPL. (R 1-9). In addition to the facts set out above, Petitioners alleged that by its actions in undertaking to maintain the streetlights

on Southwest 132nd Avenue, FPL acquired the duty to maintain the lights in reasonably safe condition. (R 25). And, Petitioners alleged, FPL breached its duty in that regard by failing to reasonably maintain and service the 132nd Avenue streetlights such that dark areas where the lights had burnt out were allowed to remain for considerable periods of time with the actual or constructive knowledge of FPL. (R 25-26).

Petitioners alleged that FPL knew that the very purpose of the lights was to provide light for improved visibility for pedestrians and motorists at night so they would not get involved in accidents on the road in question. (R 24-26). FPL had itself erected the lights to serve that purpose. (R 24). When FPL breached its duty to repair lights known to be burnt out and inoperative, Petitioners alleged, it was entirely foreseeable that pedestrians and motorists would be placed in danger of getting into accidents due to poor visibility, and that injuries and deaths could - and in the case of Petitioners' son *did* - occur as an equally foreseeable result. (R 24-26). Petitioners accordingly sought recovery from FPL for the wrongful death of their son on grounds that FPL's negligence was a legal cause of the death. (R 21-25).

3. FPL's answer and motion for judgment on the pleadings

Respondent FPL filed an answer and affirmative defenses asserting, *inter alia*, that it was "not guilty of any negligence whatsoever"; that the minor decedent was

guilty of negligence; that it was not in privity with the decedent or his survivors; that it had no duty to light public roadways; and that the lighting condition was not the proximate cause of the accident in question. (R 32-35).

FPL then filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings, contending that as a matter of law it had no duty to provide street lighting in the vicinity of the accident or anywhere and/or that as a matter of law any negligence on FPL's part was not the proximate cause of Petitioners' son's death. (R 42-55, 78-80). FPL's motion asserted that the liability of a utility company is "not that of an insurer, but of ordinary negligence" (R 48), but also said that "even where the loss of a street light is the result of negligence on the part of the power company, that negligence cannot, as a matter of law, constitute a breach of duty owed to a plaintiff involved in a motor vehicle accident allegedly because of the failure of the street light." (R 43).

4. The trial court's entry of judgment on the pleadings in favor of FPL

The Petitioners opposed FPL's motion for judgment on the pleadings. (R 81-96). The trial court, however, granted the motion and entered judgment on the pleadings in favor of FPL. (R 119). Petitioners then initiated a timely appeal to the Florida Third District Court of Appeals. (R 99-100).

5. The Third District's decision of affirmance

With virtually no reference to the facts alleged by the Petitioners about the maintenance duties FPL's had undertaken in connection with these specific streetlights, the Third District affirmed on the basis of a generalized and sweeping conclusion that utilities should never be deemed to have any duty to any member of the public. *Martinez v. Florida Power & Light Co.*, 785 So. 2d 1251 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001).

Discussing three out-of-state cases - *H.R. Moch Co. v. Rensselaer Water Co.*, 247 N.Y. 160, 159 N. E. 896 (1928), *Vaughan v. Eastern Edison Co.*, 48 Mass. App. Ct. 225, 719 N.E.2d 520 (1999), *and White v. Southern California Edison Co.*, 25 Cal. App. 4th 442, 30 Cal. Rptr. 2d 431 (1994) - and the Florida Fourth District Court of Appeals' decision in *Arenado v. Florida Power & Light Co.*, 523 So.2d 628 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the Third District basically concluded that under no facts or circumstances do utility companies owe any duty to members of the general public.

The 1928 New York decision in *Moch* was described by the Third District as the "leading case addressing the duty of a public utility company." 785 So. 2d at 1252. *Moch* involved a suit brought by a claimant against a water company for fire damage allegedly sustained as a result of the fact that the claimant felt that the waterr

company was not supplying high enough water pressure to the city's fire hydrants. The Third District discussed with approval the analysis through which the *Moch* court concluded (1) that no duties are owed by utilities to members of the public as a matter of statute or contract, and (2) that neither should any duties be imposed under the common law because the resulting liabilities might be too indefinite and too wide-ranging:

The leading case addressing the duty of a public utility company is *H.R. Moch Co. v. Rensselaer Water Co.*, 247 N.Y. 160, 159 N. E. 896 (1928). *Moch* involved a private water company which, under its contract with the city and statutory imposition, was obligated to furnish water through hydrants for fire protection. A third-party brought suit against the water company after it suffered fire damage, as a result of alleged low water pressure to the fire hydrants, claiming breach of contract, common-law tort, and breach of statutory duty. After considering whether the water company may be liable under any of the alleged theories, the Court declined to impose any duty upon the water company. The Court found that neither the contract nor statute inured to the benefit of individual members of the public, barring any potential liability under either theory. *See Moch*, 159 N. E. at 897-99.

Additionally, the Court described the failure to furnish an adequate supply of water as the denial of a benefit, not the commission of a wrong, and found that no common-law duty was owed to the plaintiff because the indefinite number of potential beneficiaries "would be unduly and indeed indefinitely extended by [] enlargement of the zone of duty."159 N. E. at 899.

785 So. 2d at 1252.

Based on the *Moch* reasoning, the Third District went on to hold that electric utilities like FPL have no duty to pedestrians to maintain or repair street lights, *even if they have assumed a duty to do so*, for example, by contract. Citing *Aranedo* and the Massachusetts *Vaughan* case as authorities, the Third District held that even where an electric company has by contract with a governmental entity assumed the duty to maintain and repair street lights, the electric company will be held to have no duty to pedestrians to perform such maintenance and repairs. 785 So. 2d at 1253.

6. The First District's subsequent decision reaching a conflicting conclusion

After the Third District's decision was entered in this case, the Florida First District Court of Appeals issued a directly conflicting decision in *Johnson v. Lance*, *Inc. and Clay Electric Cooperative, Inc.*, 790 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). On facts substantively identical to those presented here, the First District held that a public utility which had undertaken to maintain street lights² "could reasonably foresee that pedestrians walking along the roadway would be in danger of physical harm as a result of its failure to maintain the streetlights." 790 So. 2d at 1146. Therefore, the First District concluded, the electric company "owed a legal duty to

² In *Johnson*, the undertaking was by contract. See 790 So. 2d at 1145.

[the plaintiffs' deceased son] to maintain the lights for his protection." 790 So. 2d at 1146.

Based on the direct conflict with the First District's *Johnson* decision as well as on the other express conflicts set out in Petitioners' brief on jurisdiction, Petitioners sought discretionary review by this Court.

7. Discretionary review proceedings before this Court

After the jurisdictional briefing was completed herein, this Court issued orders dated May 14, 2002 which: (1) consolidated this case with Clay Electric Cooperative v. Johnson, et al., Case No. SC01-1955 and Clay Electric Cooperative v. Lance, Inc., et al., Case No. SC01-1956 for all purposes; (2) accepted jurisdiction over the consolidated cases; and (3) set briefing and argument schedules. This brief on the merits is filed pursuant to the Court's May 14, 2002 orders.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The analytical framework established by this Court in *McCain v. Florida Power Corp.*, 593 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1992) and recently reaffirmed in *Whitt v. Silverman*, 788 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 2001) requires the courts of Florida to find that duty exists wherever a foreseeable zone of danger has more likely than not been created by a defendant's actions. And, this Court's decision in *Union Park Memorial Chapel v. Hutt*, 670 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1996), using the 'zone of danger' analysis, reaffirmed the long-

established tenet of Florida negligence law that one who undertakes to act simultaneously assumes a duty of using reasonable care in performing the undertaking.

In the case of an electric company that undertakes to maintain streetlights intended to provide visibility on streets in the dark of night, this Court's decisions compel the conclusion that such a company has a duty to use reasonable care in repairing or replacing malfunctioning lights lest injuries be caused to motorists or pedestrians because of the visibility is poor. In the *Clay Electric* case consolidated herewith, the First District correctly so concluded by following the Florida law set by this Court in *McCain* and *Union Park Memorial*. The Third District failed to do so in these Martinez Petitioners' case, and reached the wrong result.

The First District's *Clay Electric* decision should be approved; the Third District's *Martinez* decision should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

A. Duty

Prior decisions of this Court have demonstrated that electric utility companies - and Respondent FPL in particular - can have duties to the general public, breach of which will give rise to tort liability. *See, e.g., Florida Power & Light Co. v. Periera*, 705 So. 2d 1359 (Fla. 1998)(FPL owed duty to maintain safe conditions on bicycle

path, even to motorcyclists who were prohibited by law from driving on the paths); *McCain v. Florida Power Corp.*, 593 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1992)(FPL had a duty to general public to use reasonable care when marking the location of its underground wires where failure to do so created a generalized and foreseeable risk of harming others). The Third District's decision in this case is directly conflicts with the law established by this Court by holding that *as a matter of law* public utility companies including Respondent FPL here - have *no* duties to the general public under any theory, whether statutory, contractual, or common law.

As this Court noted in *McCain*, duties may arise "from the general facts of the case." 593 So. 2d at 503. This Court explained that legal duty arises "whenever a human endeavor creates a generalized and foreseeable risk of harming others," and may originate from various sources:

Obviously, the duty can arise from other sources such as statutes or a person's status (e.g., the duty a parent owes a child). The Restatement (Second) of Torts, for example, recognizes four sources of duty: (1) legislative enactments or administration regulations; (2) judicial interpretations of such enactments or regulations; (3) other judicial precedent; and (4) *a duty arising from the general facts of the case*. Restatement (Second) of Torts, Sec. 285 (1965).

Id. at 503 n.2. In deciding whether public utility FPL was to be deemed to have a duty to the general public under the facts presented in *McCain* (marking the location

of underground electrical cables), this Court noted: "In the present case we are dealing with the last category [a duty arising from the general facts of the case], i.e., that class of cases in which the duty arises because of a foreseeable zone of risk arising from the acts of the defendant." 593 So. 2d at 503.

In addition to answering the specific question presented by the *McCain* facts by holding that FPL did have a duty to prevent persons from coming into contact with buried electrical cable, the *McCain* decision issued a general directive, to wit, that "the trial and appellate courts cannot find a lack of duty if a foreseeable zone of risk more likely than not was created by the defendant." 593 So. 2d at 503.

This Court's decision in *Whitt v. Silverman*, 788 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 2001) recently confirmed the intended broad scope of *McCain's* directive, explicitly mandating that the *McCain* analysis be applied to *all* negligence cases arising in this state. Courts called upon to determine whether the existence of certain facts has given rise to a duty must look not simply to status, e.g., whether a defendant is a utility company or not, but to the defendant's conduct. And, under *McCain*, the key question will always be whether a foreseeable zone of risk more likely than not was created by the defendant.

It was the *McCain* inquiry that was presented in this case such that it was necessary for the lower courts to determine whether there was a duty arising from the

general facts of the case. The critical facts alleged by the Petitioners were that FPL erected and *then undertook to maintain* the street lights in question, that FPL knew or should have known that one or more of the street lights in the area where Petitioners' son was killed were burnt out or otherwise not working for a considerable period of time before the accident such that the area suffered from poor visibility at night after it was dark. (R. 24, 25).³

Notwithstanding the *McCain*-mandated inquiry into the general facts of the case, the Third District looked only to FPL's status as a utility and concluded - without even mentioning *McCain* - that "an electric company under contract to make repairs and maintain street lights has no common law duty to third persons who are injured." 785 So. 2d at 1253, citing the Massachusetts *Vaughan* decision. Had the Third District analyzed the duty issue under *McCain*, as it should have done, it would have been readily apparent that FPL's failure to maintain the streetlights on Southwest 152nd Avenue, as it had undertaken to do, created a foreseeable zone of risk to those exposed to poor visibility on the road at night.

³ In order to make a proper *McCain* inquiry into the 'general facts of the case' to determine whether they gave rise to a duty, the trial court and the Third District were required to - but did not - take the facts pled by the Petitioners as true. *See*, *e.g.*, *First Financial USA*, *Inc. v. Steinger*, 760 So.2d 996, 997 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).

Indeed, there are many circumstances in which Florida courts have recognized the obvious "zone of risk" created by a failure to provide or maintain proper lighting. *See, e.g.*. *Golden v. Lipkin,* 49 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 1950)(hotel owner had duty to use reasonable care in lighting hallway); *Green v. School Board of Pasco County,* 752 So. 2d 700 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000)(police officer could bring negligence action against school board for failure to properly illuminate area on school property); *Reed v. Ingham,* 125 So. 2d 301 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960)(business owner had duty to properly light parking lot).

Moreover, the very fact that FPL had *undertaken* to maintain the street lights in question made the Third District's "no duty" holding clearly contrary to the established tenet of Florida jurisprudence that the law imposes on everyone who attempts to do anything, even gratuitously, a duty to use due care in the undertaking. In *Union Park Memorial Chapel v. Hutt,* 670 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1996), this Court applied the "zone of risk" analysis reiterating the long-established principle of Florida law that a voluntary undertaking will subject a person to liability, stating:

Voluntarily undertaking to do an act that if not accomplished with due care might increase the risk of harm to others or might result in harms to others due to their reliance upon the undertaking confers a duty of reasonable care, because it thereby "creates a foreseeable zone of risk." [Cites omitted.]

670 So. 2d at 67 (holding that a funeral director who voluntarily undertakes to organize and lead funeral procession owes duty of reasonable care to procession participants). *See also Slemp v. City of North Miami*, 545 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1989)(once city undertook to provide property owners with protection from flooding, city had duty to use due care); *Banfield v. Addington*, 140 So. 893, 896 (Fla. 1938)("in every situation where a man undertakes to act ... he is under an implied legal obligation or duty to act with reasonable care, to the end that the person or property of others may not be injured."). *See also Restatement (Second)* of Torts § 324A (1965).

An undertaking always gives rise to a concomitant duty to use reasonable care in performance of the undertaking. See, e.g., Union Park Memorial, supra. It was precisely the fact that FPL here undertook to maintain the streetlights that gave rise to its duty to use reasonable care in so doing. Id. Protracted failure to repair malfunctioning streetlights created a clearly foreseeable zone of risk to motorists and pedestrians operating without the lights intended to provide them visibility in the dark. McCain, supra. The Third District was clearly wrong in ignoring the 'foreseeable zone of risk' analysis required by McCain, particularly in connection with a defendant who has undertaken responsibility for certain tasks such that duty is

virtually a given pursuant to the undertaker doctrine reiterated in *Union Park Memorial*.

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