SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1505

Consolidated with SC01-1955 and SC01-1956

IVAN MARTINEZ, ET AL., Petitioners,

v.

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT CO., Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida Case No. 3D99-2795

RESPONDENT FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY'S AMENDED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT BOAN, ESQ.

FPL Law Department

P.O. Box 029100

Miami, FL 33102

Tel: 305/552-3391

Fax: 305/552-3865

HICKS, ANDERSON & KNEALE, P.A.

799 Brickell Plaza, Suite 900

Miami, FL 33131

Tel: 305/374-8171

Fax: 305/372-8038

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District correctly held that FPL did not owe a duty of care to Petitioners' decedent under the facts alleged in their Amended Complaint. FPL does not owe a duty to pedestrians to maintain or repair streetlights. Moreover, a duty does not arise based on FPL's alleged undertaking to maintain the streetlights because the alleged undertaking did not increase the risk of harm to Martinez, and he did not detrimentally rely on FPL's undertaking. In addition, public policy precludes the imposition of a duty to pedestrians on the part of FPL.

The Third District's decision is consistent with and directly supported by prior decisions from this Court and the Fourth District in the analogous contexts of claims against utilities for the interruption of power to traffic signals and the provision of water under contracts with governmental entities. The Third District's decision also is in keeping with the "foreseeable zone of risk" analysis which this Court enunciated

in *McCain*, the undertaking doctrine as applied by the Court in *Union Park*, and the majority of courts from across the country which have considered this very issue.

In the alternative, the judgment on the pleadings for FPL can be upheld on the independent and compelling ground that FPL's alleged failure to maintain the streetlights at issue was not the proximate cause of Martinez's death as a matter of law. Martinez's injury was caused by the intervening negligence in the operation of Nadeau's Bronco, and/or by Martinez's negligence in failing to exercise reasonable care while crossing the street. At most, any negligence on FPL's part was merely a remote condition that provided the occasion for the negligence of Nadeau and/or Martinez.

The decision of the Third District accordingly should be approved.

ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY HELD THAT FPL OWED NO DUTY TO PETITIONERS' DECEDENT AS A MATTER OF LAW. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION ACCORDINGLY SHOULD BE APPROVED. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE ORDER GRANTING JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS SHOULD BE UPHELD ON THE GROUND THAT FPL'S ACTIONS WERE NOT THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT GIVING RISE TO THIS LAWSUIT.

ISSUE I

FPL owed no duty to Petitioners' decedent to maintain or repair the streetlights in question.

1. General principles on legal duty of care

The threshold requirement for asserting a negligence cause of action is the existence of a legal duty of care owed by the defendant to the injured party. *McCain v. Florida Power Corp.*, 593 So. 2d 500, 502 (Fla. 1992). Under Florida law, the plaintiff bears the burden to demonstrate the existence of this duty of care, and [t]he issue of whether a duty of care exists is a question of law" for the court and not for the jury. *Michael & Philip, Inc. v. Sierra*, 776 So. 2d 294, 296 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); *Florida Power & Light Co. v. Periera*, 705 So. 2d 1359, 1361 (Fla. 1998).

"Foreseeability is a key factor in defining the boundaries of the general duty to avoid negligent acts or omissions." *Sierra*, 776 So. 2d at 296 (citing *McCain*, 593 So. 2d at 503). In this connection, the Fourth District has observed:

In applying the "foreseeable zone of risk" test to determine the existence of a legal duty, the Supreme Court has focused on the likelihood that a defendants' conduct will result in the type of injury suffered by the plaintiff. This aspect of foreseeability requires a court to evaluate whether the type of negligent act involved in a particular case has so frequently resulted in the same type of injury or harm that 'in the field of human experience' the same type of result may be expected again.

Sierra, 776 So. 2d at 296-97 (quoting Palm Beach-Broward Medical Imaging Ctr. v. Continental Grain Co., 715 So. 2d 343, 345 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)(citation omitted by the court)); see also Florida Power & Light Co. v. Lively, 465 So. 2d 1270, 1274 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985)("There is no duty to safeguard against occurrences that cannot be reasonably expected or contemplated. A failure to anticipate and guard against a happening which would not have arisen but for exceptional or unusual circumstances is not negligence ").

Moreover, while

it is foreseeable in the practical sense that planes and cars will crash or have emergencies . . ., only acts which are likely to result in injury are compensable. Acts which cause injury but are foreseeable only as remote possibilities, those only slightly probable, are beyond the limit of legal liability.

Lively, 465 So. 2d at 1276.

Florida law also is settled that "tort law involve[s] the public policy decision of whether a defendant should bear a given loss, as opposed to distributing the loss

among the general public." *Levy v. Florida Power & Light Co.*, 798 So. 2d 778, 780 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)(review in this Court pending disposition of the instant case).

2. The Arenado case

FPL submits that it does not owe a duty to pedestrians or motorists to maintain or repair streetlights under the facts alleged in Petitioners' Amended Complaint. As the Third District in the decision under review recognized, the Fourth District has held on analogous facts that FPL does not owe a duty to noncustomer members of the public involved in vehicular collisions at intersections where traffic signals are rendered inoperable due to the utility's alleged negligence in causing an interruption of power. *Arenado v. Florida Power & Light Co.*, 523 So. 2d 628, 629 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), *rev. dism.*, 541 So. 2d 612 (Fla. 1989); *see also Levy*, 798 So. 2d 778 (affirming summary judgment for FPL where plaintiff's decedent was killed on bicycle while crossing intersection where traffic signal was inoperable due to FPL's alleged negligence).

In *Arenado*, as explained in the Third District's decision here, a traffic signal controlling an intersection was not working because FPL's transmission line went down and caused a power outage. Arenado's vehicle and a vehicle approaching from a different direction entered the intersection at the same time and collided, resulting in Arenado's death. The plaintiff brought a wrongful death action against FPL and alleged that its negligence resulted in the power interruption which caused the accident.

The trial court held that FPL did not owe a duty to Arenado and thus dismissed the complaint. The Fourth District affirmed on appeal.

The Fourth District in *Arenado* rejected the plaintiff's three-pronged argument that FPL's duty arose under statute, contract, and the common law of torts. As for the alleged statutory duty, the Court ruled that the undertaking to provide sufficient, adequate, and efficient electrical service does not create a private cause of action under section 366.03, Fla. Stat. As for the alleged contractual and common law duties, the court reasoned:

The leading case deciding the duty of a public utility upon the theories of breach of contractual [sic] and common law tort is *H.R. Moch Co. v. Rensselaer Water Co.*, 247 N.Y. 160, 159 N.E. 896 (1928), authored by Chief Justice Cardozo.

With regard to the contractual theory, which involved the doctrine of third party beneficiary, the [Moch] court stated:

In a broad sense it is true that every city contract not improvident or wasteful, is for the benefit of the public. More than this, however, must be shown to give a right of action to a member of the public not formally a party. The benefit, as it is sometimes said, must be one that is not merely incidental and secondary.... It must be primary and immediate in such a sense and to such a degree as to be speak the assumption of a duty to make reparation directly to the individual members of the public if the benefit is lost.

159 N.E. at 897.

The [Moch] court also pointed out that

[b]y a vast preponderance of authority, a contract between a city and a water company to furnish water at the city hydrants has in view a benefit to the public that is incidental rather than immediate, an assumption of duty to the city and not to its inhabitants.

Id.

The *Moch* court disposed of the claim of common law tort duty as did Judge Nesbitt in *Abravaya v. Florida Power and Light Co.*, 39 Fla.Supp. 153 (Cir.Ct., Dade County, 1973), upon the grounds that the utility had not assumed the duty which is sought to be imposed upon it; that, in the general sense tort law is largely concerned with the allocation of risks; and the determination of who should bear those risks, which determinations have far-reaching consequences.

* * *

Concluding that there was no duty from FPL to Arenado, the dismissal of the fourth amended complaint, with prejudice, is affirmed.

Arenado, 523 So. 2d at 630.

In *Abravaya*, which the *Arenado* court cited with approval, the plaintiff brought a negligence action against FPL for injuries sustained in an intersection collision allegedly caused by an inoperative traffic signal. *Abravaya*, 39 Fla. Supp. at 153-54. Then circuit Judge Nesbitt identified the central issue in the case as "whether or not the defendant utility owed a duty to the plaintiff driver, who, admittedly, was not a customer of the defendant for purposes relevant to this case." *Id.* at 155. After reviewing several New York decisions involving similar facts, including Chief Justice Cardozo's seminal opinion in *Moch*, Judge Nesbitt held that:

[FPL] had no duty to regulate the flow of traffic for the City of Miami, and there is no factual allegation which would indicate that any such duty was assumed. Moreover, . . . the loss of electrical power was simply the deprivation of a benefit and nothing more . . . There being no duty, as a matter of law, there can be no breach of duty.

Id. at 157-58.

Importantly, the decision in *Abravaya* was influenced by public policy concerns. The court said:

Tort law is largely concerned with the allocation of risks, and the determination of who should bear risks has far-reaching consequences. The plaintiffs in this case want a power company to bear risks for traffic accidents, in the event of signal failures. Their theory would impose a burden of liability for situations quite remote from the duties assumed in an ordinary contract situation. This would result in the burden for traffic accidents being shifted to the power company and, ultimately, to the rate payer through increased power rates. The court can see no reason to use this device for allocating risks for traffic accidents when the involvement of the power company is passive and so far removed from the direct causation.

In making these determinations, the court is sensitive to the many repercussions which might result from such an extension of duties. Some courts have dismissed [sic] this in terms of foreseeability, others have referred to causation. But, the conclusion is best expressed in terms of duty. See W. Prosser, *The Law of Torts*, § 43, at 251 (4th Ed. 1971).

Id. at 158.

This Court was asked to review the Fourth District's decision in *Arenado* which, as we have shown, relied upon *Moch* and *Abravaya* in holding that FPL owed no duty

as a matter of law to a noncustomer member of the motoring public. The Court, however, dismissed the petition for review in *Arenado* for lack of conflict jurisdiction on the very basis that, unlike the alleged conflict cases, *Woodbury v. Tampa Waterworks Co.*, 57 Fla. 243, 49 So. 556 (1909) and *Mugge v. Tampa Waterworks Co.*, 52 Fla. 371, 42 So. 81 (1906), there was no contract in *Arenado* containing the requisite "special language" so as to give rise to a duty on the part of FPL in favor of the motorist who was killed in the collision at the intersection where the traffic signal was inoperative. *Arenado*, 541 So. 2d at 613-14.

In *Mugge*, this Court held that a member of the public, whose building had burned because of the failure of the defendant waterworks to supply sufficient water pressure, had a valid claim for breach of contractual duty where the utility's contract with the city provided that the utility "shall assume all liabilities to person or property arising from constructing or operating said [water] works," and had a provision permitting a special tax levy upon city property for payment of the utility's services. *Mugge*, 42 So. at 81; *Arenado*, 523 So. 2d at 629; *Arenado*, 541 So. 2d at 613. The same contract existed in *Woodbury*, where the Court approved the duty analysis set forth in *Mugge*. *Woodbury*, 49 So. at 560; *Arenado*, 523 So. 2d at 629; *Arenado*, 541 So. 2d at 613. In the words of this Court in its *Arenado* decision, the utility's contract with the municipality "is the measure of its duty to the [public]." *Arenado*, 541 So. 2d at 614 (quoting *Mugge*, 42 So. at 86).

Petitioners do not dispute that the analysis set forth in the Fourth District's decision in *Arenado* would foreclose their claim against FPL were it followed. In this connection, Petitioners do not claim that FPL owed Martinez a statutory duty, and they do not assert that FPL owed him a contractual duty, much less that FPL owed him a duty under a contract containing the "special language" present in *Woodbury* and *Mugge*. Petitioners likewise do not assert that their common law tort duty theory would survive scrutiny under *Arenado*. Petitioners all but ignore *Arenado* and its significance, contending instead that *Arenado* is no longer valid given this Court's subsequent decision in *McCain*, 593 So. 2d 500, and cases citing it. As will be shown, Petitioners' reliance on *McCain* and its progeny is sorely misplaced.

3. *McCain's* foreseeable zone of risk analysis.

Like a broken record, Petitioners repeatedly assert that the Third District's decision in this case cannot be reconciled with the rule set forth in *McCain*. For example, Petitioners' erroneously assert that the Third District has improperly held that public utility companies like FPL now "have *no* duties to the general public under any theory, whether statutory, contractual, or common law," and that the decision under review "holds FPL immune from tort liability" even though "FPL's negligent maintenance of the street lights in question created an obvious 'zone of risk' to motorists and pedestrians." (Petitioner's Brief, pp. 10, 15; italics in original).

Petitioners severely misread the Third District's decision and this Court's holding in *McCain*.

The first case cited by the Third District in its decision is *Florida Power & Light Co. v. Periera*, 705 So. 2d 1359 (Fla. 1998). In *Periera*, this Court held that FPL was potentially liable to a plaintiff who was injured on a bicycle path when his motorcycle struck a guy wire which FPL had maintained. Petitioners' claim that the Third District concluded that an electric utility is immunized from liability as a matter of law in any and all circumstances accordingly is absurd.

What's more, the Third District's decision only affirmed the judgment on the pleadings on the facts alleged in Petitioners' Amended Complaint. The court did not announce a blanket, across-the-board, "no-duty" rule for electric utilities as Petitioners erroneously contend. Indeed, the other cases cited by the Third District suggest that a duty may arise under the scenario present in *Woodbury* and *Mugge*, or where —unlike the instant case — the elements of the undertaking doctrine, discussed in further detail below, have been met. Petitioners' exaggerated characterization of the Third District's decision is totally without merit.

Petitioners' interpretation of *McCain* does not bear scrutiny either. In *McCain*, an employee of Florida Power Corporation ("FPC")⁴ went out to a construction site

⁴Petitioners incorrectly identify the defendant in *McCain* as FPL. (Petitioner's Brief, pp. 10-11). In fact, the defendant was FPC, an unrelated electric utility.

and undertook to mark the areas where it would be safe to use a mechanical trencher. Later that day, McCain was injured by electrical shock when the blade of the trencher he was operating struck an underground FPC cable carrying 7,200 volts of electricity. McCain was in the area which had been marked as a "safe" location to use the trencher, and he had "relied upon the markings in conducting his digging in the area." *Florida Power Corp. v. McCain*, 555 So. 2d 1269, 1271-72 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). The Second District reversed the jury's verdict for the plaintiff, and remanded for entry of a directed verdict for FPC, holding that the plaintiff's injury was not foreseeable. This Court quashed the appellate court's decision because:

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